

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search http://ageconsearch.umn.edu aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.

TMD DISCUSSION PAPER NO. 39

A NOTE ON TAXES, PRICES, WAGES, AND WELFARE IN GENERAL EQUILIBRIUM MODELS

Sherman Robinson International Food Policy Research Institute

> Karen Thierfelder US Naval Academy

Trade and Macroeconomics Division International Food Policy Research Institute 2033 K Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006 U.S.A

January 1999

TMD Discussion Papers contain preliminary material and research results, and are circulated prior to a full peer review in order to stimulate discussion and critical comment. It is expected that most Discussion Papers will eventually be published in some other form, and that their content may also be revised.

A Note on Taxes, Prices, Wages, and Welfare in General Equilibrium Models

Sherman Robinson Trade and Macroeconomics Division International Food Policy Research Institute

and

Karen Thierfelder US Naval Academy

January 1999

Table of Contents

Introduction
The 1-1-2-3 Model
The Transfer Effect in the 1-1-2-3 Model
Policy Scenarios
The Transfer Effect and Income Distribution
Conclusion
References
Table 1 — 1-1-2-3 Model Equations 13
Table 2 — SAM for 1-1-2-3 the Model 14
Table 3 — Coefficient Tableau for Price Change Equations 15
Table 4 — 1-2-2-3 Model Equations 16
Annex One: Derivation of Income Distribution Changes

Abstract

Changes in real wages are often used to measure welfare changes. There is a problem, however, in interpreting measures of changes in factor returns when analyzing the impact of changes in taxes — such as tariffs and indirect taxes — that operate as wedges in product and factor markets versus direct taxes that do not work through the price system. One must account for both how the tax is collected and where the tax revenue goes. We sort out how a shift in tax structure will affect the real wage in a model which isolates the price, wage, revenue, and welfare effects. We start from a simple general equilibrium model which accounts for all income and expenditure flows in the economy and includes both traded and domestic goods. We analyze the impact of changes in indirect taxes and tariffs on prices and factor income and demonstrate the pitfalls of using real factor returns as a welfare indicator. There is a transfer effect on factor returns arising from any shift between indirect and direct taxes, regardless of any efficiency effects. Next, we add explicit factor markets to the model and describe the implications for income distribution in an extension of the Jones trade model. We find that the transfer effect dampens the magnification effect of a price change on factor returns, but does not reverse the Stolper-Samuelson results.

Paper presented at the Southern Economic Association Meetings, Baltimore, Maryland, November 9, 1998. We thank Thorsten Beck, Shanta Devarajan, and Scott McDonald for comments on an earlier version of the paper.

Introduction

Calculating the impact of changes in taxes has been a major theme of general equilibrium analysis in the field of public finance. A common approach, in both theoretical and empirical work, is to do comparative statics analysis. First, write down a model with an equilibrium in product and factor markets that includes various taxes. Then, change the taxes and determine the new equilibrium values of output, employment, prices, and wages. Finally, compare the two equilibria to see what has changed, and by how much. The new solution potentially involves changes in all prices and quantities, and many measures of changes in welfare can be used. In the empirical literature, commonly reported measures include changes in real wages, household income, gross domestic product (GDP), absorption, and equivalent and/or compensating variation.

The removal of distortions may generate efficiency gains that should be reflected in an increase in GDP, which measures changes in aggregate production. Changes in welfare should be measured by changes in aggregate demand or consumption, which shows up as a change in aggregate absorption. The equivalent and compensating variation measures provide a more refined way of measuring changes in aggregate absorption that take into account knowledge about the underlying expenditure and utility functions.¹ Changes in real wages and household income are often presented to measure welfare changes, tracking changes in absorption back to income generation in factor markets.

Using changes in factor incomes, including real wages, to measure changes in welfare seems reasonable and provides a first cut at addressing issues of income distribution. Indeed, much of the policy debate about the effects of changes in taxes, including tariffs, revolves around changes in wages and profits rather than any measure of aggregate welfare. Changes in relative factor returns have a strong impact on the distribution of income and are certainly of major, often vocal, concern to interest groups. Consider, for example, the debate about the effect of trade liberalization on wages.²

There is a problem, however, in using measures of changes in factor returns when analyzing the impact of changes in taxes that operate in product and factor markets such as tariffs and indirect taxes, including the value-added tax. One must account for both how the tax is collected and where the tax revenue goes. Consider, for example, a switch from an income tax to a value-added tax. The income tax is a direct tax at the household (or corporate) level, and will

¹See Shoven and Whalley (1992), pp. 123-128, for a nice description of the use of equivalent and compensating variations measures in computable general equilibrium models.

²Hinojosa and Robinson (1992) discuss the labor market issues in NAFTA. See Burfisher, Robinson, and Thierfelder (1994) and Levy and van Wijnbergen (1994) for empirical analysis of wage changes linked to NAFTA. The literature on the "wage-trade" debate is voluminous and beyond the scope of this paper.

have only an indirect effect on product and factor prices. The value-added tax has a direct effect on product and factor markets, and works its way to household incomes through changes in factor payments (wages and profits). In terms of the national accounts, the switch from an income tax to a value-added tax changes a transfer to a tax that works through the price system. The problem is that, even if the change does not change aggregate absorption, there will be changes in wages and prices that potentially confuse the welfare analysis. In particular, any change from a direct tax to an indirect tax, even if the change is revenue-neutral and does not change aggregate absorption, will lead to a fall in real factor returns, and vice versa.

In this paper we sort out how a shift in tax structure will affect the real wage in a model which isolates the price, wage, revenue, and welfare effects. We start from a simple general equilibrium model that includes traded and domestic goods, and then analyzes the impact of changes in indirect taxes and tariffs on prices and wages. We demonstrate the pitfalls of using real factor returns as a welfare indicator when analyzing such changes. There is a "transfer effect" on factor returns arising from any shift between indirect and direct taxes, regardless of any efficiency effects. Then we add factor markets to the model and describe the implications for income distribution. We find that the transfer effect dampens the magnification effect of a price change on factor returns but does not reverse the Stolper-Samuelson results.

The 1-1-2-3 Model

Table 1 presents a simple general equilibrium model of one country, with one factor of production (labor), two production activities, and three commodities — hence, the 1-1-2-3 model. The model starts from the 1-2-3 model (one country, two activities, three commodities) of Devarajan, Lewis, and Robinson (1993) and adds labor. It can also be seen as an extension of Jones (1965, 1974). The country produces two goods, one sold on the domestic market (*D*) and one exported (*E*). A third commodity (*M*) is imported, and is not produced domestically. This model is a good analytic representation of a large class of empirical computable general equilibrium (CGE) models.³

Equations 1 and 2 describe production technology. Labor (*L*) is used to produce an aggregate good (*X* in equation 1), which can be transformed into domestic goods or exports (*D* and *E* in equation 2). In CGE models, the transformation function is usually a constant elasticity of transformation (CET) function. Equation 3 describes absorption (*Q*) as an aggregation of domestic and imported goods (*D* and *M*) — often given as a constant elasticity of substitution (CES) function. Equations 4 and 5 reflect the first-order conditions for profit and utility maximization for the corresponding transformation and aggregation functions. Equations 6 and 7 relate domestic prices (P^e and P^m) to world prices (π^e and π^m), given the exchange rate (*R*). The

³See de Melo and Robinson (1989) and Devarajan, Lewis, and Robinson (1990, 1993), who describe the properties of the 1-2-3 model in detail and show how it stylizes the behavior of most trade-focused, single and multi-country CGE models.

domestic price of imports (P^m) includes a tariff wedge. Equations 8, 9, and 10 are adding-up equations and serve to define aggregate prices $(P^x \text{ and } P^q)$ of X and Q and the wage (W). There is an indirect-tax wedge between the value of total factor payments (equation 8) and the value of sales (equation 9). Equation 11 defines the trade balance, with the value of exports set equal to the value of imports, both in world prices.

The model has 12 endogenous variables (*X*, *Q*, *D*, *E*, *M*, P^x , P^q , P^e , P^m , P^d , *R*, and *W*) and 11 equations. Aggregate employment, *L*, is assumed to be exogenous. The model can only determine relative prices, and one of the goods must be chosen as numeraire, with the corresponding price set to 1.⁴ The model then determines 11 variables (5 quantities and 6 relative prices).

The various nominal flows generated by the model, which reflect receipt and expenditure accounts of the various economic actors, are shown in Table 2. This table is a social accounting matrix (SAM), with each entry representing a payment by the column account to the row account. The column and row sums for each economic actor must be equal, given the requirement of receipt and expenditure balance. Balance in the activity, commodity, government, and world accounts reflects the receipt-expenditure equations in the model (equations 8, 9, 10, and 11). The SAM has an explicit household account, which receives as income wages and government transfers and which spends all its income on goods. This household account is implicit in the model equations, given that the model satisfies Walras' Law.⁵

The SAM also reflects the national accounts and standard price indices. Welfare analysis would be based on real absorption, Q, and its composition (D and M). Production is measured by production (X) which equals real GDP at factor cost. Changes in production "efficiency" would be measured by changes in X (shifts in the production possibility frontier) or its composition (D and E, representing shifts along the frontier).⁶ Measuring GDP at market prices involves taxes which are incorporated into the price system. The price P^q corresponds to the consumer price index. It includes imports (measured at tariff-ridden prices) and excludes exports. The price P^x corresponds to the GDP deflator (at factor cost). It includes exports and excludes imports. The GDP deflator at market prices would be $P^x \mathfrak{A}^x$, which includes indirect taxes.

From the SAM alone, one can see a link between taxes and wages. Assume, for example,

⁶Note that production is efficient in a second best environment given the tax structure.

⁴The model also satisfies Walras' Law, but this has already been taken into account by leaving out the income-expenditure equation, which says that the value of total expenditure (equation 9) equals the value of total wages (equation 8) plus government revenue.

⁵Note that if the trade balance were not zero, there would need to be an entry in the SAM from the world account to the household account. The trade balance is income (positive or negative) to the household.

that the composite good is the numeraire, so that its price, P^q , is set to one. Now consider an experiment where indirect taxes and/or tariffs are lowered — a typical liberalization experiment. Also assume for the moment that real absorption, Q, does not change — for some reason there are no reallocation effects from the liberalization. Given the numeraire, the value of total absorption ($P^q \cdot Q$) also does not change. However, government tax revenue falls. If household income is to remain adequate to buy Q, which the model and the SAM require, then the wage must rise, even though there are no changes in quantities, in order to offset the lower government transfers. This "transfer effect" on the real wage is independent of any efficiency effects.

The problem is that the taxes are embodied in the price system, so reducing them will change some prices, regardless of changes in quantities. In the experiment, the rise in wages is exactly offset by a reduction in government transfers — the transfer effect. Real household income does not change at all, even though the wage rises. Welfare measures such as equivalent or compensating variation will not change. It is only the real wage measure that is misleading.

The Transfer Effect in the 1-1-2-3 Model

The transfer effect involves a relationship between prices and taxes. In the 1-1-2-3 model, it can be seen by substituting the price equations (6 and 7) into equations 9 and 10. Repeating equation 8, the model can be reduced to four equations:

$$W \cdot L \quad P^x \cdot X \tag{12}$$

$$P^{x} \cdot T^{x} \cdot X \quad P^{d} \cdot D \quad R \cdot E \cdot \pi^{e}$$
(13)

$$P^{q} \cdot Q = P^{d} \cdot D = R \cdot T^{m} \cdot M \cdot \pi^{m}$$
(14)

$$P^{d} \quad \mathbf{H}(R, T^{m}, \pi^{m}, \pi^{e}) \tag{15}$$

Equation 15, summarizes the equilibrium relationship between world prices, the exchange rate, and the tariff rate and the price of the domestically supplied good, D. This relationship will depend on the various substitution and transformation elasticities.⁷

Log differentiate equations 12–15, assuming world prices are constant and that no quantities change. Define S^m as the share of imports in the value of total absorption and S^e as the share of exports in the value of total production. Use a hat (^) over a variable to denote a log differential. The result is four equations in five price-change variables:

$$\hat{W} \quad \hat{P}^x \tag{16}$$

$$\hat{P}^{x} \quad (1 \quad S^{e}) \cdot \hat{P}^{d} \quad S^{e} \cdot \hat{R} \quad \hat{T}^{x} \tag{17}$$

⁷Devarajan, Lewis, and Robinson (1993) sort out the relationship between domestic prices, the exchange rate, and world prices in this model.

$$\hat{P}^{q} \quad (1 \quad S^{m}) \cdot \hat{P}^{d} \quad S^{m} \cdot (\hat{R} \quad \hat{T}^{m}) \tag{18}$$

$$\hat{P}^{d} \quad \eta_{l} \cdot \hat{R} \quad \eta_{2} \cdot \hat{T}^{m} \tag{19}$$

where:

$$S^{e} = \frac{P^{e} \cdot E}{P^{x} \cdot X}$$
$$S^{m} = \frac{P^{m} \cdot M}{P^{q} \cdot Q}$$

In equation 19, world prices are assumed not to change, so the entire price transmission effect works through changes in the exchange rate and the tariff. The price transmission elasticities, η_1 and η_2 , will generally both be positive if the elasticity of substitution between imports (*M*) and domestic goods (*D*) is greater than one.⁸

As usual, one price has to be fixed by choice of numeraire. The model assumes a zero trade balance, so that $S^e = S^m$. Substitute equation 16 into 17 and subtract equation 18. The result is an equation for the change in the real wage as a function of changes in indirect taxes and tariffs:

$$\hat{W} \quad \hat{P}^{q} \qquad \hat{T}^{x} \quad S^{m} \cdot \hat{T}^{m} \tag{20}$$

The percent change in the real wage equals minus the percent change in the indirect tax rate minus the import share weighted percent change in the tariff rate (where the rate variables are expressed as one plus the *ad valorem* rate). If indirect taxes or tariffs fall, the real wage rises. This equation holds regardless of what happens to any other prices and certainly does not depend on choice of numeraire.

If the analysis involves a revenue-neutral switch between two taxes that are functions of prices, then there will be no transfer effect on the real wage. For example, lowering tariffs and making up the revenue by increasing indirect taxes (or value added taxes) will lead to no change in direct taxes (or lump-sum transfers), and will not lead to a change in the real wage from the transfer effect. The two terms on the right hand side of equation 20 will be of opposite signs and exactly cancel out.

⁸The elasticity of substitution between imports and domestic goods it typically greater than one for OECD countries. When imports become more expensive, the price of the domestic substitute also increases as consumers shift towards the domestic goods. For developing countries, however, imports and domestic goods can be poor substitutes. When the price of imported goods increases, exports must increase to pay for the increased cost of essential imports. The price of domestic goods falls in this case and there is a negative transmission elasticity.

Policy Scenarios

The transfer effect is not just an abstract theoretical result, but has important implications for macro policy. Table 3 presents the four price-change equations in a tableau that shows the diagonal structure of the causal chain. Consider a country which decides to shift from an income tax to a value added tax (VAT), which is equivalent to t^x in the model.⁹ From equation 20, the real wage must fall as income taxes fall, keeping household income constant. The effect can be quite large. Shifting from an income tax to a VAT rate of 20 percent, which is common, will generate a 20 percent fall in the real wage.

Assume that macro policy targets the consumer price index, P^q , as the inflation indicator. Keeping it fixed implies that the nominal wage and the producer price index (*W* and P^x) must both fall (equations 20 and 16). Given that P^q is fixed, P^d and *R* must either stay fixed or move in opposite directions. From equation 19, they cannot move in opposite directions when both transmission elasticities are positive, so they will remain fixed.¹⁰ Then P^x and *W* will both fall with the change in T^x (equations 17 and 16). A fall in the nominal wage may lead to labor problems, even given that real average household income will be unchanged.

Alternatively, assume that macro policy makers target the wage or the before-tax producer price index, P^x , as their inflation indicator. If they hold P^x fixed, then the equilibrium nominal wage will also remain fixed (equation 16). In this case, at the final equilibrium, P^q (the consumer price index) must rise, which implies that P^d and R must both rise (equations 17, 18, and 19). The economy will have a rise in the consumer price index and the nominal exchange rate (a devaluation), while the wage remains constant. While these two alternatives are theoretically identical in terms of their effects on relative prices, they may not appear identical to macro policymakers and might also engender quite different reactions from workers, even though they are one-time adjustments.

Finally, consider the effect of trade reform which involves lowering tariffs and/or eliminating import rationing (which generates an import premium that behaves like a tariff except that the "revenue" does not go to the government but to whoever has import rights). In countries with heavy protection and high trade shares, reform will have large macro effects. Cutting tariffs will lead to a rise in the real wage (equation 20) and also to a depreciation of the real exchange rate (equation 19), assuming P^d is constant. Developing countries typically raise a large share of government revenue from tariffs, and trade shares are also typically high. For a trade share of 40

⁹There is a distinction between an "origin" value added tax (VAT), which includes exports but excludes imports, and a "destination" VAT, which excludes exports and includes imports. The variable t^x corresponds to an origin VAT, while a European-style VAT is a destination VAT. To model a destination VAT, we would introduce a tax on *D*, which excludes exports, and increase tariffs by the VAT as well.

¹⁰When both transmission elasticities are negative, P^d and R move in opposite directions.

percent of GDP and a tariff rate of 30 percent, a fifty percent cut in tariffs would lead to a 5 percent rise in the real wage $(0.40 \cdot (1.30 - 1.15)/1.30 = .05)$.

If the nominal exchange rate, R, is fixed, the domestic price level, P^d , will fall. The consumer price index, P^q , will also fall (equation 18), as will P^x (equation 17). The nominal wage will also fall, but not by as much as P^q . The result will be general deflation, even though real wages will rise. Alternatively, fixing a price index and allowing the nominal exchange rate to adjust will lead to the same adjustment of relative prices, but will not be deflationary and will thus look different to economic agents.

The Transfer Effect and Income Distribution

In a model with one input, labor, the transfer effect describes the change in value added when tax revenue is redistributed to the household in a lump sum fashion. This model, by construction, does not allow any link between production structure, trade, and factor markets. Indeed, adding more factors of production does not affect the analysis, since we assume no changes in quantities.

To analyze the transfer effect on income distribution, we need a model with two inputs, labor and capital. In the simplest form, this becomes a model with one country, two factors, two goods produced with separate sectoral production functions, and a third commodity consumed — the 1-2-2-3 model. The model equations appear in table 4. Two goods, D and E are produced using two inputs, L and K, equations (21) and (22). Factors are fully employed, equations (23) and (24), and all revenue from sales are paid to factors (zero profit conditions), equations (31) and (32). Other price equations and import demand are identical to those in the 1-1-2-3 model (table 1).¹¹ The model has 17 endogenous variables (*X*, *Q*, *D*, *E*, *M*, *L^e*, *L^d*, *K^d*, *K^e*, *P^x*, *P^q*, *P^e*, *P^m*, *P^d*, *R*, *W^d* and W^k) and 16 equations. Labor (L) and capital stock (K) are assumed to be exogenous. The model can only determine relative prices, and one of the goods must be chosen as numeraire, with the corresponding price set to 1.

To describe the transfer effect, substitute equations (31) and (32) into equation (33) and use the full employment conditions, equations (23) and (24) for an expression of GDP at factor costs:

$$P^{x} \cdot X \quad W^{l} \cdot L \quad W^{k} \cdot K \tag{37}$$

Log differentiating, holding endowments constant:

$$\hat{P}^{x} \quad \beta^{l} \cdot \hat{W}^{l} \quad \beta^{k} \cdot \hat{W}^{k} \quad \hat{X}$$
(38)

¹¹The 1-2-2-3 model is an extension of Jones (1965, 1974). See Robinson and Thierfelder (1996) for a detailed derivation of the 1-2-2-3 model.

$$\beta^{k} \quad \frac{W^{k} \cdot K}{W^{k} \cdot K \quad W^{l} \cdot L}$$
$$\beta^{l} \quad \frac{W^{l} \cdot L}{W^{k} \cdot K \quad W^{l} \cdot L}$$

Likewise, log differentiating the composite production and consumption goods:

$$\hat{P}^{x} \quad (1 \quad S^{e}) \cdot (\hat{P}^{d} \quad \hat{D}) \quad S^{e} \cdot (\hat{R} \quad \hat{E}) \quad \hat{X}$$
(39)

$$\hat{P}^{q} \quad (1 \quad S^{m}) \cdot (\hat{P}^{d} \quad \hat{D}) \quad S^{m} \cdot (\hat{R} \quad \hat{T}^{m} \quad \hat{M}) \quad \hat{Q}$$

$$\tag{40}$$

Holding quantities constant and rearranging we find an expression analogous to equation (20):

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}^{k} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{W}}^{k} \quad \boldsymbol{\beta}^{l} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{W}}^{l} \quad \hat{\boldsymbol{P}}^{q} \quad \boldsymbol{S}^{m} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{T}}^{m} \tag{41}$$

In a model with two factors, the transfer effect of an increase in the tariff rate is a reduction of the average wage, holding output constant.

To describe the transfer effect on income distribution, we need a model in which quantity changes. Movements along the production possibilities frontier (PPF) lead to changes in factor demands and therefore factor returns.

$$\beta^{k} \cdot \hat{W}^{k} \quad \beta^{l} \cdot \hat{W}^{l} \quad \hat{P}^{q} \quad S^{m} \cdot \hat{T}^{m} \quad S^{e}(\hat{E} \quad \hat{M}) \quad \hat{Q}$$

$$\tag{42}$$

Assuming balanced trade:

$$\beta^{k} \cdot \hat{W}^{k} \quad \beta^{l} \cdot \hat{W}^{l} \quad \hat{P}^{q} \quad S^{m} \cdot \hat{T}^{m} \quad \hat{Q}$$

$$\tag{43}$$

When a tariff increases, the downward pressure on factor returns is offset by the change in income needed to maintain the new level of household consumption.

To assess the impact of the transfer effect on income distribution, consider total income, the sum of factor payments and the lump-sum tariff revenue:

$$Y \quad W^l \cdot L \quad W^k \cdot K \quad T \tag{44}$$

$$T = t^m \cdot M \cdot \pi^m \cdot R \tag{45}$$

Log differentiating:

$$\hat{Y} \quad \gamma_l \cdot \hat{W}^l \quad \gamma_k \hat{W}^k \quad \gamma_t \cdot (\hat{t}^m \quad \hat{M} \quad \hat{R})$$

$$\gamma_l \quad \frac{W^l \cdot L}{Y}$$
(46)

$$\gamma_k \quad \frac{W^k \cdot K}{Y}$$
$$\gamma_t \quad \frac{T}{Y}$$

Using equation (43), which describes the transfer effect when quantities can change and there is balanced trade, and simplifying the algebra, we find:¹²

$$\hat{Y} \quad \hat{W}^{l} \cdot \gamma_{l} \cdot \left(1 \quad \frac{t^{m}}{(1 \quad t^{m})}\right) \quad \hat{W}_{k} \cdot \gamma_{k} \left(1 \quad \frac{t^{m}}{(1 \quad t^{m})}\right) \qquad (47)$$

$$\gamma_{t} \cdot \left(\frac{(\hat{P}^{q} \quad \hat{Q})}{S^{m}} \quad \hat{M} \quad \hat{R}\right)$$

$$0 \le t^m \le \infty$$
$$0 \le \left(1 \quad \frac{t^m}{(1 \quad t^m)}\right) \le 1$$

The transfer effect reduces the change in factor prices, but it does not change the sign. These factor price changes are linked to commodity prices as described in the Stolper-Samuelson theorem. For example an increase in the tariff on the labor-intensive good in the capital-abundant country will increase the real return to labor and decrease the real return to capital. We find that the transfer effect does not change the sign of the factor price change that comes out of general equilibrium trade models. It does, however, dampen the magnification effect of the change in commodity prices on factor returns.

Conclusion

We use a simple general equilibrium model to analyze the links between changes in *ad valorem* taxes and the real wage. In analyzing the tax-price-wage link, we distinguish between "efficiency effects" on wages, incomes, and welfare and a "transfer effect" which will lead to changes in the real wage even when there is no impact on household income and aggregate absorption. We show that an increase indirect taxes — even if the policy change is revenue neutral and does not change aggregate absorption — will reduce real wages. This result suggests

¹²See annex one for the complete derivation.

that it is misleading to equate welfare with real wages. Instead, one must use a measure such as compensating or equivalent variation which accounts for changes in household income from all sources. In models with more than one factor, the transfer effect affects the average factor return but does not alter the pattern of income redistribution among factors following a price shock.

The theoretical model is a simple representation of standard, trade-focused, CGE models. The results from this analysis, however, are quite general and will apply to any general equilibrium model that captures the full price system. When analyzing major changes in the tax system, such as the introduction of a value added tax or significant reduction of import protection, the transfer effect can be quite large. The results indicate the importance of using care when analyzing the impact of tax changes on factor returns, as well as on welfare.

References

- Burfisher, Mary E., Sherman Robinson, and Karen Thierfelder (1994). "Wage Changes in a U.S.-Mexico Free Trade Area: Migration vs. Stolper-Samuelson Effects," in Joseph Francois and Clinton Shiells (eds.) Modeling Trade Policy: Applied General Equilibrium Assessments of North American Free Trade, New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Devarajan, Shantayanan, Jeffrey D. Lewis, and Sherman Robinson (1993). "External Shocks, Purchasing Power Parity, and the Equilibrium Real Exchange Rate." *World Bank Economic Review*, Vol. 7., No. 1 (January), pp. 45-63.
- Devarajan, Shantayanan, Jeffrey D. Lewis, and Sherman Robinson (1990). "Policy Lessons from Trade-Focused Two-Sector Models." *Journal of Policy Modeling*, Vol 12., No. 4, pp. 625-657.
- Hinojosa-Ojeda, Raul and Sherman Robinson (1992). "Labor Issues in a North American Free Trade Agreement." In Nora Lustig, Barry P. Bosworth and Robert Z. Lawrence (eds.) Assessing the Impact, North American Free Trade, edited by Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institute, pp. 69-94.
- Jones, Ronald (1965). "The Structure of Simple General Equilibrium Models." Journal of Political Economy, Vol 73, pp. 557-572.
- Jones, Ronald W. (1974). "Trade with Non-Traded Goods: The Anatomy of Interconnected markets." *Economica*, Vol. 41 (May), pp. 121-138.
- Levy, Santiago and S. van Wijnbergen (1994). "Agriculture in the Mexico-U.S. Free Trade Agreement: A General Equilibrium Analysis."In Joseph Francois and Clinton Shiells (eds.) *Modeling Trade Policy: Applied General Equilibrium Assessments of North American Free Trade*, New York: Cambridge University Press
- Melo, Jaime de and Sherman Robinson (1989). "Product Differentiation and the Treatment of Foreign Trade in Computable General Equilibrium Models of Small Economies." *Journal* of International Economics, Vol. 27, Nos. 1-2 (August), pp. 47-67.
- Robinson, Sherman and Karen Thierfelder (1996). "The Trade-Wage Debate in a Model with Nontraded Goods: Making Room for Labor Economists in Trade Theory." International Food Policy Research Institute, Trade and Macroeconomics Division Discussion Paper No. 9.

Shoven, John B. and John Whalley (1992). *Applying General Equilibrium*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

X = V(L)	(1)
$X = \mathbf{G}(D, E)$	(2)
Q = F(D,M)	(3)
$\frac{E}{D} = g\left(\frac{P^{e}}{P^{d}}\right)$	(4)
$\frac{M}{D} = f\left(\frac{P^{m}}{P^{d}}\right)$	(5)
P^{m} $T^{m}\cdot\pi^{m}\cdot R$	(6)
$P^{e} \pi^{e} \cdot R$	(7)
$P^x \cdot X W \cdot L$	(8)

 $P^{x} \cdot T^{x} \cdot X \quad P^{d} \cdot D \quad P^{e} \cdot E \tag{9}$

$$P^{q} \cdot Q \quad P^{d} \cdot D \quad P^{m} \cdot M \tag{10}$$

V

Production function

$$\pi^e \cdot E \quad \pi^m \cdot M \tag{11}$$

Variable	Name	Variable	Name
X	Production	P^{x}	Price of X
D	Domestic sales P^d Price of D		Price of D
Ε	Exports	P^e	Price of E
M	Imports	P^m	Price of M
Q	Composite good	P^q	Price of Q
L	Labor	π^e	World price of <i>E</i>
T^m 1 t^m	Tariff mark-up	π^m	World price of M
T^x 1 t^x	Indirect tax mark-up	R	Exchange rate
Notation	Name	Notation	Name
G	Transformation function	f	Import demand function

F Composite good function

g

Export supply function

Table 2 — SAM for 1-1-2-3 the Model

	Activities	Commodities	Households	Government	World
Activities		$P^{d} \cdot D$			$ ilde{E}$
Commodities			$P^{q} \cdot Q$		
Households	$W \cdot L$			$\tilde{T}^x = \tilde{T}^m$	
Government	${ ilde T}^x$	${ ilde T}^m$			
World		$ ilde{M}$			

The variables are defined in Table 1 and nominal magnitudes are indicated by variables with a tilde (~):

$$\begin{array}{lll}
\tilde{T}^{x} & t^{x} \cdot P^{x} \cdot X \\
\tilde{T}^{m} & t^{m} \cdot R \cdot \pi^{m} \cdot M \\
\tilde{E} & R \cdot \pi^{e} \cdot E \\
\tilde{M} & R \cdot \pi^{m} \cdot M
\end{array}$$

GDP(factor cost) $W \cdot L P^x \cdot X$ GDP(market prices) $P^x \cdot X \quad \tilde{T}^x \quad \tilde{T}^m \quad P^q \cdot Q \quad \tilde{E} \quad \tilde{M}$

Endogenous variables					F	
Equation	\hat{W}	\hat{P}^{x}	$\hat{P}^{\;q}$	\hat{P}^{d}	Ŕ	Exogenous variables
16	1	-1				0
17		1		$(1 S^{e})$	S ^e	\hat{T}^{x}
18			1	$(1 \ S^{m})$	S^{m}	$S^m \cdot \hat{T}^m$
19				1	η_I	$\eta_2 \cdot \hat{T}^m$

Table 3 — Coefficient Tableau for Price Change Equations

Table 4 — 1-2-2-3 Model Equations

$$D = V^d(L^d, K^d) \tag{21}$$

$$E \qquad V^{e}(L^{e}, K^{e}) \tag{22}$$

$$\left(\frac{K^{d}}{L^{d}}\right) = h\left(\frac{W^{k}}{W^{l}}\right)$$
(23)

$$\left(\frac{K^{e}}{L^{e}}\right) = i\left(\frac{W^{k}}{W^{l}}\right)$$
(24)

$$K \quad A_{k,e} \cdot E \quad A_{k,d} \cdot D \tag{25}$$

$$L \quad A_{l,e} \cdot E \quad A_{l,d} \cdot D \tag{26}$$

$$X \quad G(D,E) \tag{27}$$

$$Q = F(D,M) \tag{28}$$

$$\frac{M}{D} = f\left(\frac{P^{m}}{P^{d}}\right)$$
(29)

$$P^{m} = T^{m} \cdot \pi^{m} \cdot R \tag{30}$$

$$P^{e} = \pi^{e} \cdot R \tag{31}$$

$$P^{d} \quad W^{l} \cdot A_{l,d} \quad W^{k} \cdot A_{k,d} \tag{32}$$

$$P^{e} \quad W^{l} \cdot A_{l,e} \quad W^{k} \cdot A_{k,e} \tag{33}$$

$$P^{x} P^{d} \cdot \frac{D}{X} P^{e} \cdot \frac{E}{x}$$
⁽³⁴⁾

$$P^{q} \cdot Q \qquad P^{d} \cdot D \qquad P^{m} \cdot M \tag{35}$$

$$\pi^e \cdot E = \pi^m \cdot M \tag{36}$$

Variable	Name	Variable	Name	
X	Composite production good	P^{x}	Price of X	
D	Domestic production	P^d	Price of D	
E	Export good production	P^e	Price of E	
М	Imports	P^m	Price of M	
Q	Composite good	\mathbf{W}^{l}	Payment to labor	
L	Labor	\mathbf{W}^{k}	Payment to capital	
K	Capital	P^q	Price of Q	
\mathbf{V}^{j}	Production function, $j = d,e$	π^e	World price of E	
$A_{i,j}$	Input requirement of good i (L or K) to make one unit of good j (D or E)	π^m	World price of <i>M</i>	
T^m 1 t^m	Tariff mark-up	R	Exchange rate	

Notation	Name	Notation	Name
G	Transformation function	f	Import demand function
g	Export supply function	h	Capital demand function in production of good d
F	Composite good function	i	Capital demand function in production of good e

Annex One: Derivation of Income Distribution Changes

To assess the impact of the transfer effect on income distribution, consider total income, the sum of factor payments and the lump-sum tariff revenue:

$$Y \quad W^l \cdot L \quad W^k \cdot K \quad T \tag{A-1}$$

$$T = t^m \cdot M \cdot \pi^m \cdot R \tag{A-2}$$

Log differentiating:

$$\hat{Y} \quad \gamma_{l} \cdot \hat{W}^{l} \quad \gamma_{k} \hat{W}^{k} \quad \gamma_{t} \cdot (\hat{t}^{m} \quad \hat{M} \quad \hat{R})$$
(A-3)
$$\gamma_{l} \quad \frac{W^{l} \cdot L}{Y}$$

$$\gamma_{k} \quad \frac{W^{k} \cdot K}{Y}$$

$$\gamma_{t} \quad \frac{T}{Y}$$

Equation (43) in the text describes the transfer effect when quantities can change and there is balanced trade:

$$\beta^{k} \cdot \hat{W}^{k} \quad \beta^{l} \cdot \hat{W}^{l} \quad \hat{P}^{q} \quad S^{m} \cdot \hat{T}^{m} \quad \hat{Q}$$
(A-4)

This can be rearranged to show:

$$\hat{T}^{m} = \frac{\hat{P}^{q} \quad \hat{Q} \quad (\beta_{k} \cdot \hat{W}^{k} \quad \beta^{l} \cdot \hat{W}^{l})}{S^{m}}$$
(A-5)

and by definition:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} T^{m} & (1 & t^{m}) \\ \hat{T}^{m} & \hat{t}^{m} \end{array}$$

Substituting equation (A-5) into equation (A-3):

$$\hat{Y} \quad \gamma_l \cdot \hat{W}^l \quad \gamma_k \cdot \hat{W}^k \quad \frac{\gamma_l}{S^m} \left(\hat{P}^q \quad \hat{Q} \quad (\beta_k \cdot \hat{W}^k \quad \beta_l \cdot \hat{W}^l) \right) \quad \gamma_l \cdot (\hat{M} \quad \hat{R})$$
(A-6)

and combining the coefficients on the changes in factor returns, this becomes:

$$\hat{Y} \quad \hat{W}^{l} \cdot \left(\gamma_{l} \quad \frac{\gamma_{t}}{S^{m}} \cdot \beta_{l}\right) \quad \hat{W}^{k} \cdot \left(\gamma_{k} \quad \frac{\gamma_{t}}{S^{m}} \cdot \beta_{k}\right) \quad \gamma_{t} \cdot \left(\frac{(\hat{P}^{q} \quad \hat{Q})}{S^{m}} \quad \hat{M} \quad \hat{R}\right)$$
(A-7)

The coefficient on \hat{W}^{l} can be simplified as follows:

$$\gamma_{l} = \frac{\gamma_{l}}{S^{m}} \cdot \beta_{l} = \frac{W^{l} \cdot L}{Y} = \frac{T \cdot P^{x} \cdot X}{Y \cdot P^{m} \cdot M} \cdot \left(\frac{W^{l} \cdot L}{(W^{l} \cdot L - W^{k} \cdot K)}\right)$$
(A-8)

$$\gamma_{l} = \frac{\gamma_{t}}{S^{m}} \cdot \beta_{l} = \gamma_{l} \cdot \left(1 = \frac{t^{m} \cdot M \cdot \pi^{m} \cdot R}{(1 - t^{m}) \cdot \pi^{m} \cdot R \cdot M}\right)$$
(A-9)

$$\gamma_{l} = \frac{\gamma_{t}}{S^{m}} \cdot \beta_{l} = \gamma_{l} \left(1 - \frac{t^{m}}{(1 - t^{m})} \right)$$
(A-10)

The coefficient on \hat{W}^k similarly simplifies and the change in income becomes:

$$\hat{Y} \quad \hat{W}^{l} \cdot \gamma_{l} \cdot \left(1 \quad \frac{t^{m}}{(1 \quad t^{m})} \right) \quad \hat{W}_{k} \cdot \gamma_{k} \left(1 \quad \frac{t^{m}}{(1 \quad t^{m})} \right) \qquad (A-11)$$

$$\gamma_{l} \cdot \left(\frac{(\hat{P}^{q} \quad \hat{Q})}{S^{m}} \quad \hat{M} \quad \hat{R} \right)$$

$$0 \le t^m \le \infty$$
$$0 \le \left(1 - \frac{t^m}{(1 - t^m)}\right) \le 1$$

LIST OF TMD DISCUSSION PAPERS

- No. 1 "Land, Water, and Agriculture in Egypt: The Economywide Impact of Policy Reform" by Sherman Robinson and Clemen Gehlhar (January 1995)
- No. 2 "Price Competitiveness and Variability in Egyptian Cotton: Effects of Sectoral and Economywide Policies" by Romeo M. Bautista and Clemen Gehlhar (January 1995)
- No. 3 "International Trade, Regional Integration and Food Security in the Middle East" by Dean A. DeRosa (January 1995)
- No. 4 "The Green Revolution in a Macroeconomic Perspective: The Philippine Case" by Romeo M. Bautista (May 1995)
- No. 5 "Macro and Micro Effects of Subsidy Cuts: A Short-Run CGE Analysis for Egypt" by Hans Löfgren (May 1995)
- No. 6 "On the Production Economics of Cattle" by Yair Mundlak, He Huang and Edgardo Favaro (May 1995)
- No. 7 "The Cost of Managing with Less: Cutting Water Subsidies and Supplies in Egypt's Agriculture" by Hans Löfgren (July 1995, Revised April 1996)
- No. 8 "The Impact of the Mexican Crisis on Trade, Agriculture and Migration" by Sherman Robinson, Mary Burfisher and Karen Thierfelder (September 1995)
- No. 9 "The Trade-Wage Debate in a Model with Nontraded Goods: Making Room for Labor Economists in Trade Theory" by Sherman Robinson and Karen Thierfelder (Revised March 1996)
- No. 10 "Macroeconomic Adjustment and Agricultural Performance in Southern Africa: A Quantitative Overview" by Romeo M. Bautista (February 1996)
- No. 11 "Tiger or Turtle? Exploring Alternative Futures for Egypt to 2020" by Hans Löfgren, Sherman Robinson and David Nygaard (August 1996)
- No. 12 "Water and Land in South Africa: Economywide Impacts of Reform A Case Study for the Olifants River" by Natasha Mukherjee (July 1996)
- No. 13 "Agriculture and the New Industrial Revolution in Asia" by Romeo M. Bautista and Dean A. DeRosa (September 1996)
- No. 14 "Income and Equity Effects of Crop Productivity Growth Under Alternative Foreign Trade Regimes: A CGE Analysis for the Philippines" by Romeo M. Bautista and Sherman Robinson (September 1996)

- No. 15 "Southern Africa: Economic Structure, Trade, and Regional Integration" by Natasha Mukherjee and Sherman Robinson (October 1996)
- No. 16 "The 1990's Global Grain Situation and its Impact on the Food Security of Selected Developing Countries" by Mark Friedberg and Marcelle Thomas (February 1997)
- No. 17 "Rural Development in Morocco: Alternative Scenarios to the Year 2000" by Hans Löfgren, Rachid Doukkali, Hassan Serghini and Sherman Robinson (February 1997)
- No. 18 "Evaluating the Effects of Domestic Policies and External Factors on the Price Competitiveness of Indonesian Crops: Cassava, Soybean, Corn, and Sugarcane" by Romeo M. Bautista, Nu Nu San, Dewa Swastika, Sjaiful Bachri, and Hermanto (June 1997)
- No. 19 "Rice Price Policies in Indonesia: A Computable General Equilibrium (CGE) Analysis" by Sherman Robinson, Moataz El-Said, Nu Nu San, Achmad Suryana, Hermanto, Dewa Swastika and Sjaiful Bahri (June 1997)
- No. 20 "The Mixed-Complementarity Approach to Specifying Agricultural Supply in Computable General Equilibrium Models" by Hans Löfgren and Sherman Robinson (August 1997)
- No. 21 "Estimating a Social Accounting Matrix Using Entropy Difference Methods" by Sherman Robinson and Moataz-El-Said (September 1997)
- No. 22 "Income Effects of Alternative Trade Policy Adjustments on Philippine Rural Households: A General Equilibrium Analysis" by Romeo M. Bautista and Marcelle Thomas (October 1997)
- No. 23 "South American Wheat Markets and MERCOSUR" by Eugenio Díaz-Bonilla (November 1997)
- No. 24 "Changes in Latin American Agricultural Markets" by Lucio Reca and Eugenio Díaz-Bonilla (November 1997)
- No. 25* "Policy Bias and Agriculture: Partial and General Equilibrium Measures" by Romeo M. Bautista, Sherman Robinson, Finn Tarp and Peter Wobst (May 1998)
- No. 26 "Estimating Income Mobility in Colombia Using Maximum Entropy Econometrics" by Samuel Morley, Sherman Robinson and Rebecca Harris (Revised February 1999)

- No. 27 "Rice Policy, Trade, and Exchange Rate Changes in Indonesia: A General Equilibrium Analysis" by Sherman Robinson, Moataz El-Said, and Nu Nu San (June 1998)
- No. 28* "Social Accounting Matrices for Mozambique 1994 and 1995" by Channing Arndt, Antonio Cruz, Henning Tarp Jensen, Sherman Robinson, and Finn Tarp (July 1998)
- No. 29* "Agriculture and Macroeconomic Reforms in Zimbabwe: A Political-Economy Perspective" by Kay Muir-Leresche (August 1998)
- No. 30* "A 1992 Social Accounting Matrix (SAM) for Tanzania" by Peter Wobst (August 1998)
- No. 31* "Agricultural Growth Linkages in Zimbabwe: Income and Equity Effects" by Romeo M. Bautista and Marcelle Thomas (September 1998)
- No. 32* "Does Trade Liberalization Enhance Income Growth and Equity in Zimbabwe? The Role of Complementary Polices" by Romeo M. Bautista, Hans Lofgren and Marcelle Thomas (September 1998)
- No. 33 "Estimating a Social Accounting Matrix Using Cross Entropy Methods" by Sherman Robinson, Andrea Cattaneo, and Moataz El-Said (October 1998)
- No. 34 "Trade Liberalization and Regional Integration: The Search for Large Numbers" by Sherman Robinson and Karen Thierfelder (January 1999)
- No. 35 "Spatial Networks in Multi-Region Computable General Equilibrium Models" by Hans Löfgren and Sherman Robinson (January 1999)
- No. 36* "A 1991 Social Accounting Matrix (SAM) for Zimbabwe" by Romeo M. Bautista and Marcelle Thomas (January 1999)
- No. 37 "To Trade or not to Trade: Non-Separable Farm Household Models in Partial and General Equilibrium" by Hans Löfgren and Sherman Robinson (January 1999)
- No. 38 "Trade Reform and the Poor in Morocco: A Rural-Urban General Equilibrium Analysis of Reduced Protection" by Hans Löfgren (January 1999)
- No. 39 "A Note on Taxes, Prices, Wages, and Welfare in General Equilibrium Models" by Sherman Robinson and Karen Thierfelder (January 1999)

TMD Discussion Papers marked with an "" are MERRISA-related papers.

Copies can be obtained by calling, Maria Cohan at 202-862-5627 or e-mail m.cohan@cgnet.com